THESIS

Josefine Knotz 2023 University of Veterinary Medicine of Budapest



Department of Physiology and Biochemistry

Temperature-dependent sex determination in crocodilians

By: Josefine Knotz

Supervisor: Dávid Sándor Kiss, PhD Attila Zsarnovszky, PhD

Budapest, Hungary 2023

Table of Contents

ABSTRACT	2
ABBREVIATIONS	3
1. INTRODUCTION	
2. SEX DETERMINATION MECHANISMS	6
3. TEMPERATURE-DEPENDENT SEX DETERMINATION IN CROCO	ODILIANS9
3.1. GENOME OF CROCODILIANS	9
3.2. PATTERNS OF DETERMINATION	10
3.3. THERMOSENSITIVE PERIOD	15
3.4. GONADAL DIFFERENTIATION	
3.5. Mechanisms of temperature-dependent sex determination	
3.5.1. Steroid hormones and aromatase	
3.5.1.1 Steroid hormones	
3.5.1.2 Aromatase	
3.5.1. Genes involved in temperature-dependent sex determination	
3.5.1.1. SOX9	
3.5.1.2. SF-1	
3.5.2. TRVP4	
3.5. Selective advantage of TSD	
4. THE ROLE OF CLIMATE CHANGE	
5. CONCLUSION	
REFERENCES	
ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS	

Abstract

The gender of crocodilian eggs is determined by temperature during the incubation period. Temperature-dependent sex determination is a phenomenon occurring amongst all crocodilians and several other reptilian species. Thereinafter, high, and low temperatures produce female hatchlings, while intermediate temperatures engender males. Artificial incubation temperatures in various crocodile and alligator species identified the critical temperature ranges where sex ratios are skewed, the pivotal points at which males and females are produced in a 50:50 ratio and the time frame where gender of the hatchling can be altered.

With respect to the last six decades of research, this thesis will provide an insight into the molecular background of the sex determination mechanism in crocodilians, in special regard to the different patterns and mechanical hypotheses. Further, we will take an approach to post-hatching effects posed by the different incubation temperatures and the possible evolutionary advantages and risks for crocodilians exhibiting TSD.

Abbreviations

SD	Sex determination
GSD	Genetic sex determination
ESD	Environmental sex determination
TSD	Temperature-dependent sex determination
SRY	Sex determining region Y
PT	Pivotal temperature
TRT	Transitional ranges of temperature
TSP	Thermosensitive period
PGC	Primordial germ cells
E_2	Estradiol
E ₂ -17b	Estradiol 17beta
Т	Testosterone
DHT	Dihydrotestosterone
А	Androstenedione
E_1	Estrone
AT	Aromatase
E_1	Estrone
AI	Aromatase inhibitor
GAM	Gonado-Adrenal-Mesonephros complex
AMH	Anti müllerian hormone
SF-1	Steroidogenic factor 1
SOX9	Sry related HMG box gene 9
TRP	Transient receptor potential
TRPV4	Transient receptor potential vanilloid type 4
Ca^{2+}	Calcium
Dmrt1	Doublesex and mab-3 related transcription factor 1
K-T Event	Cretaceous-tertiary event
IUCN	International Union for Conservation of Nature

1. Introduction

"Sex Determination is a synthesis of many molecular events that drives a community of cells towards a coordinated tissue fate (...). Classically considered to be the process by which an organism initiates the development of ovaries or testes from the embryonic gonad" [1]. This is just one of many scientific ways to explain the process of sex determination (SD).

The question of gender is a phenomenon that accompanies mankind constantly. Thus, for us humans, it is an exciting experience during pregnancy, and even in domestic- and wild animals, sex plays an essential role. Whether in breeding or in preservation of endangered species, gender is a factor that cannot be neglected in our nature. Over the millennia, different animal genera and species have adopted processes and mechanisms to further differentiate the early cell stages of an embryo into either male or female. Theories on SD and the mechanism behind it can be traced all the way back to popular philosophers such as Parmenides and Aristotle [2, 3]. Sure enough, their theories on sex being determined by the localization of the embryo in the uterus or from which testicle the sperm originates from, do not give any scientific explanation on how embryonic tissues are arranged into either testes or ovaries. However, it illustrates the importance of the matter and how centuries ago, mankind was already fascinated by the natural phenomenon [2].

The discovery of essential components of the reproductive system, such as Sertoli cells or Graafian follicles, and finally the detection of sex chromosomes by Nettie Stevens, gave a head start to the detailed examination of the SD mechanism in mammals, reptilians, and amphibians [2, 3]. Generally speaking, you can differentiate between two forms of SD occurring in vertebrates: Genetic sex determination (GSD) and environmental sex determination (ESD) [1, 4–6]. These mechanisms are utilized by various animal species.

When looking at reptilians, crocodilians are considered to be very remarkable. Not only because of their long history, ranging back all the way to the dinosaurs, or their unique anatomy and physiology, but also due to their SD mechanism. All species belonging to the class of crocodilians exhibit a special form of ESD, called Temperature-dependent sex determination (TSD). As opposed to GSD, no sex chromosomes determine the gender of the offspring, but certain temperatures during the incubation time of the egg.

This thesis will focus on presenting the most up-to-date data on TSD, ranging from the different patterns to changes during embryonic development, and will further give an overview of the current hypotheses surrounding the mechanism of TSD. The primary focus lies in the mechanism displayed by the crocodilians, referring therefore to exemplary studies on both crocodiles and alligators. However, due to the diversity of the SD mechanism and the broad popularity among reptiles, other species will be mentioned as well and differences between crocodilians and other fellow reptilians will be highlighted. Furthermore, we will take a critical look into the future, reviewing collected data to evaluate how climate warming in the upcoming years will pose an effect on species exhibiting TSD.

2. Sex determination mechanisms

GSD might be the most prominent SD mechanism and is exhibited by most mammals, birds, and certain reptilian species [7, 8]. Genotypic gender determination is characterized by the presence of heteromorphic sex chromosomes, which carry the relevant genetic information and are found in the karyotype of the respective species. The chromosomal arrangement can be classified as heterogametic and homogametic. When speaking about mammals, males are represented by the XY heterogamety and females by the homogametic XX. The distribution of sex chromosomes in other species differs compared to those of mammals. For instance, in birds, the alleles are switched, and the female is the heterogametic (ZW), and the male is the homogametic individual (ZZ) [8–10]. Few of the living reptiles have been examined for the presence of such heteromorphic sex chromosomes [4, 8]. Heterogametic sex chromosomes are present in snakes, (ZW female, ZZ male) and in lizards. Genotypic determination of sex seems to be scarce in chelonians [8, 11]. Quite a distinct variation of GSD can be seen in *Drosophila melanogaster* where the sex of progeny is determined via the chromosomal ratio of X chromosomes to that of autosomal [12].

SD itself is a complex mechanism consisting of various pathways and signals and thus cannot be pinpointed to one single factor [1]. Chronologically, SD in GSD begins with the setting of the genotypic sex at the time of fertilization, followed by the gonadal differentiation into either the ovary or testes and finally the shaping of external genitalia [13]. Generally speaking, the chromosomal sex is determined by the presence of either a XX or XY karyotype. Responsible for the determination of either male or female sex is most importantly a transcription factor, located on the short arm of the Y chromosome. The "sexdetermining region Y" (SRY gene) is produced by precursor cells, that will develop into Sertoli cells and is responsible for initiating the development of primordial gonads into testes. No such gene has been identified on the X chromosome [1, 13]. Consequently, if the SRY, or mainly the Y chromosome, is absent, no male-inducing pathway can be initiated and instead a female pathway will be favored [1, 12, 13].

Varying greatly from those of mammals and birds, several reptiles and selected fish species evolved a system significantly differing from the genotypic SD [1, 4, 7]. ESD is predominantly based on the influence of extrinsic factors on the organism. Upon those, a sequence of processes is started in the embryonic tissue, which will ultimately determine the

future sex of the embryo. Here, the sex is not determined by the time of fertilization, but during the period of embryonic development [1, 14]. When examining species whose progeny is typically influenced by outer factors by means of laboratory diagnostic methods, it becomes clear that one of the major differences in animals exhibiting ESD is the absence of heteromorphic sex chromosomes [1, 4, 7]. The stimuli vary between species and are not at all universal. Especially applicable to the category of ESD are vertebrates such as reptiles. However, also invertebrates like nematodes and parasites are subject to certain factors determining their sex [15]. Namely, nutrition, temperature, water quality, or stress can serve as an external factor to switch on a number of mechanisms within the embryonic or neonatal body to determine the gender [1, 7, 15]. Among vertebrates, there is a strong tendency towards temperature being the predominant factor [15]. This distinct mechanism is the most prominent among reptilian species and was first discovered by Charnier (1966) in the lizard Agama agama [16]. Here, certain threshold temperatures during the incubation of the egg determine the sex of the embryo during development [7]. As of now many turtle species, some lizards, and all crocodilians examined were confirmed to exhibit TSD [4-8, 10, 11]. Note, that only a small portion of all reptilian species have been studied and evaluated so far, therefore the data on the occurrence of TSD is not entirely completed [4].

Studies around TSD have not only focused on the possible molecular background and possible genes involved in the process but also on determining crucial temperature points in development and the patterns expressed in the relevant species. Despite GSD and TSD working on different levels, it is valid to assume that both might be associated with one another. Evidence for that hypothesis lies in the co-existence of both mechanisms in certain species, such as lizards or geckos, where heterogamety, either male or female, and the sensitivity to environmental temperature play a specific part in SD [8, 10, 17, 18]. This suggests, that TSD and GSD might be connected in one way or another, meaning that one of the mechanisms can be viewed as an ancestral state [4, 8, 18, 19]. However, up to now, there is no clear answer as to why some reptilian species have committed to either one of the mechanisms and others have an ongoing transition between both. Bull et al. (1980) argued that a possible way for TSD and GSD to be present together would be if TSD was only put into action if outer environmental conditions changed drastically, and therefore altered the sex ratio towards the gender that could benefit the most from the change. The co-existence of GSD and TSD could in that case alter the heterogamety of the species, meaning XY females and XX males as a consequence of shifts in environmental stimuli. In the aftermath, heterogametic females could produce offspring with heterogametic males, which were not subject to the shift. Finally, successors would be non-viable. Considering Bull's (1980) theory, a prevalence of GSD and TSD together seems unlikely and not advantageous for any species.

3. Temperature-dependent sex determination in crocodilians

SD mechanisms are remarkable in their complexity and strict organization. Crocodilians especially are quite unique by utilizing the scheme of TSD, most importantly regarding their different molecular foundation when compared to mammalian vertebrates. As mentioned in chapter 2 of this thesis, all crocodilian species are confirmed to have the gender of their offspring be determined through the external factor of temperature. Primary factor for this distinctive mechanism to be dominant includes the absence of heteromorphic sex chromosomes in those reptilians [1, 4–8, 10, 11].

3.1. Genome of crocodilians

The order crocodilians that we know today can phylogenetically be classified into the clade Archosaurs, the "ruling reptiles" [20], a monophyletic group that comprises of extinct and extant individuals. Nowadays, the only living orders belonging to the archosaurs are the crocodilians and birds. Within paleontology, crocodilians are considered to be the closest relatives alive to birds, based on many similarities found for example in anatomy and on molecular levels [10, 21–25]. To put them into a taxonomical categorization, the Crocodylia include a total of 27 species [26], further subdivided into the lineages Alligatoridae, Crocodylidae, and Gavialoidea [27, 28], with more subfamilies possible to be categorized [26]. Despite the close relationship of the "largest living reptiles" [27] to birds, their genome and karyotype show some major differences, thus also resulting in different physiologic, genetic, and sex determining variations between species [28, 29]. The total number of chromosomes in crocodilians varies in between the individual species, ranging from 30-42 [28, 29]. As opposed to the karyotype of birds and turtles, the genome of Crocodylia is characteristically represented by an absence of dot-shaped microchromosomes and a predomination of some larger-sized chromosomes [8, 28-30]. The presence of heteromorphic sex chromosomes, which are evidently responsible for the determination of the sex in mammalians, has been denied in 21 tested species of crocodilians [4, 8, 28–30]. The karyotype of crocodiles appears to be highly conserved throughout evolution, with main changes occurring through fission- and fusion events, proposing that SD in crocodilians has been stable throughout evolution [14, 28–31].

3.2. Patterns of determination

The basic rationale for TSD is that different incubation temperatures promote either male or female development. These temperatures can be classified according to specific patterns. Thus, TSD in crocodilians can be categorized and the relevant degrees during incubation can be determined. So far three patterns have been described [4, 8, 19, 31–34]. The patterns themselves have been universally defined throughout the research in TSD on reptiles, however, varying naming has been used by different experts. For simplicity reasons in the following parts of the thesis, we will refer to the patterns by TSD1a, TSD1b, and TSD2, which are also used by the authors González (2019) and Valenzuela and Lance (2004).

But what exactly do these patterns describe? They are defined by the different temperature influences during the incubation period of the embryo. Thus, as demonstrated in figure 1, low temperatures can form males and higher temperatures females, or vice versa. TSD1a suggests that male embryos emerge at cooler temperatures, and female embryos emerge at warmer temperatures. While this pattern is widespread in turtles, this sequence of temperatures has not yet been detected in crocodilians [23, 35]. On the contrary, TSD1b is the inverted image of TSD1a - Cooler temperatures produce females and warmer males. According to current knowledge, a third pronounced pattern, TSD2, occurs in all susceptible animals and is considered to be the most prominent one within crocodiles and alligators [23, 33, 35]. The authors Ewert et al. (1994) described the scheme as the "basal or ancestral" origin for TSD and further suggested that it serves as a template for the first two systems [4]. In this instance, female embryos are formed in high and low temperatures, with males occurring within. It is also of consideration that intersexes may develop in the intermediate temperature zone [11], however, this has not yet been proven in crocodilians [4, 8, 11, 22, 31–35]. As mentioned in Chapter 2, various species within the reptile taxa express TSD. Nevertheless, there are still major differences occurring between those species. We can see this in turtles, a species in which TSD is also widespread, where it is common to find the patterns TSD1a and TSD2, however, the TSD1b scheme was not yet detected in this order [23].



Figure 1: Schematic representation of TSD patterns by demonstrating the proportion of males (%) to the incubation temperature ($^{\circ}$ C). The three colored lines represent the different patterns exhibited by TSD species. The blue line represents the TSD1a pattern, meaning that males have a higher proportion at lower temperatures, while the increase of females within a clutch with higher temperatures consequentially brings a low male proportion. TSD1b is represented by the pink graph, where females are produced at low temperatures and males increasingly at higher temperatures. The third pattern (TSD2), demonstrated by the orange graph, shows that males are only produced at higher proportions in intermediate temperatures, while their proportion is significantly less at low and high temperatures.

Source: Pieau (1996)

As a way of determining the significant temperatures and their effect on the embryo's gonads, several laboratory experiments have been carried out on different species. In the American alligator, *Alligator mississippiensis*, temperatures below 30 to 31 °C produce females exclusively. Intermediate climatic conditions, on the contrary, engender both male and female embryos, with, in the case of *Alligator mississippiensis*, a strong bias towards females [32, 34]. Higher temperatures above 33°C create favorable conditions for male development, with 100% phenotypic males occurring at 33 °C [31, 32, 34, 36, 37]. Female progeny hatching after an incubation temperature above 34°C presents with larger oviducts and a possible slower post-hatching growth rate [23, 31, 33]. One may argue about the expressed pattern within alligators, as researchers have provided opposing arguments and field data. While data obtained by Ferguson (1983), Deeming and Ferguson (1988, 1989),

and Joanen (1982) indicate that alligators can be classified into the TSD1b pattern, meaning females produced at low temperatures and males at higher temperatures, newer published studies by Gonzalez (2019), Ewert (1994), and Lang and Andrews (1994) suggest the categorization for a TSD2 pattern. This can further be supported by incubation experiments that produced mixed sex ratios at 34 °C, despite the previous assumption of 34 °C being a 100% male-producing temperature [31, 32]. In the light of assumptions, that type 1b of TSD classification might be derived from pattern 2, as females commonly are determined in high temperatures, it can be implied that species expressing such pattern can ultimately still be categorized into the TSD2 scheme [4, 35].

TSD patterns of the Nile crocodile, Crocodylus niloticus, fall within the same ranges as Alligator mississippiensis. Furthermore, the sex ratio in this species weighs more in the direction of female individuals [23, 38]. Additionally, in the Estuarine crocodile, Crocodylus porosus, climatic conditions below the 30 °C mark and above 34 °C exclusively promote the production of female embryos [23, 39]. Varying results can be observed in different reptilian species. Alternating to crocodilians, turtles commonly express TSD1a. Here, males are produced at low temperatures, and females at high. In the European pond turtle, Emys orbicularis, males can be determined at 25 °C, while 100% of females are produced at 30 °C [40]. Another key thing to remember when talking about the patterns of determination are the transitional ranges between the female- and male-producing temperatures. These intervals can be defined as the transitional ranges of temperatures (TRT). Within those ranges, either female- or male embryos can develop, leading to mixed sex ratios [11, 23, 41]. Just by the different patterns of TSD, there can either be one or two TRTs. In each, TSD1a and TSD1b, one TRT is found as there is a single interval between the transition from male to female and vice versa. Regarding TSD2, two TRTs are determinable, one between the low-temperature female to an intermediate male and another between the intermediate male and high-temperature female [11, 23, 33, 35].

Concerning the width of the temperature transitions there are variations between the species. For instance, sometimes there are intervals of almost 2 °C (e.g., Mugger crocodile, *Crocodylus palustris*) in which both males and females can emerge. Nevertheless, the TRTs can be as narrow as 0.3 to 0.9 °C, as demonstrated in *Alligator mississippiensis* (Figure 2) and the Morelet's crocodile, *Crocodylus moreletii* [10, 31, 33]. Temperatures below and above TRTs may also be referred to as "feminizing" and "masculinizing" temperatures [11,

41]. In the case of sea turtles, all temperatures below the TRT are "masculinizing" and above "feminizing" [11]. Compared with crocodilians this may not be adaptable, as most species express the TSD2 scheme, with low-range temperatures commonly producing females [11].

Another important parameter in incubation experiments occurring at constant temperatures is the pivotal temperature (PT), also commonly referred to as the threshold temperature [41]. PT describes a temperature, that can produce a 1:1 sex ratio within a clutch, provided the incubation occurred at a constant temperature [11, 23, 35, 41]. While in genotypic SD species, a 1:1 ratio of males to females is applicable and favorable, it is not a realistic state in crocodilians [37]. Not only in laboratory conditions, but also in natural nests, sex ratios in crocodiles and alligators are skewed and prominently biased towards a female-dominated ratio [23, 31–34, 36–38, 42, 43]. Likewise to TRT, the number of PTs is linear with the patterns. Thus, one PT can be detected in each of TSD1a- and b, and two in TSD2 [11, 23, 35]. As seen in figure 2, two PTs are detectable in the case of *Alligator mississippiensis*, one at 31,7 °C, the other at 35,9 °C [33]. Variations in PTs are quite common amongst species and can be subject to various factors. As PTs do not apply to an individual egg and is regarded in the context of clutches, clutch effects can cause differences in PTs of the same species. Such alterations can be quite substantial, especially in free-roaming animals and their progeny, as possible shifts could drastically change the sex ratio of a clutch [41].



Figure 2: Diagram of the relation of Pivotal temperatures (PT) and transitional ranges of temperatures (TRT) to a temperature curve in *Alligator Mississippiensis*. The blue curve represents the pattern TSD2: Males have a low proportion at decreased and very high temperatures, while in the intermediate temperatures higher male ratios can be observed. The red line describes the development of the PTs of *Alligator mississippiensis*. 50% of male proportion were observed at 31.7 °C and 35.9 °C, while at 33.4 °C the highest male ratio was found. The orange lines represent the TRTs. Between 31.2 °C and 32.6 °C there is no clear tendency towards one sex, rather both have a chance of emerging. Similar ranges were observed at 34.3 °C, however, no upper limit was detectable.

Source: González (2019)

Laboratory experiments as such, coupled with a constant and favorable climatic environment and no external factors intervening with embryonic development, provide ideal conditions to determine the above-mentioned intervals. In the wild, this occurs to be more complex. In open nature, climatic weather conditions are less stable and usually fluctuate not only in celsius degrees but also in weather conditions, such as rain, humidity, and sunlight exposure. As opposed to an artificially created incubation, free nests are more exposed during their approximately 70 to 100 days of incubation [22, 32]. Depending on the environmental conditions, nest temperatures can fluctuate as much as 4 °C to 10 °C during the day [38, 43].

Alternating conditions during incubation may raise the question of whether TSD patterns behave differently in naturally occurring nests. Joanen et al. (1982) performed studies on

free clutches of *Alligator mississippiensis* to find answers for that obstacle and gave significant insight into TSD in wild roaming animals. Among the cooler degrees, between 29 °C and 31 °C, more female offspring hatched. Their eggs were mainly located in the periphery or the lower part of the clutch. Warmer temperatures around 34 °C produced mainly male individuals, which were located at the top of the nest [32, 37]. Not only was evidence found in *Alligator mississippiensis* for TSD in natural nests, but also in crocodiles, such as *Crocodylus porosus* [39] and *Crocodylus niloticus* [38]. Hot and cold temperatures ultimately produced females, while intermediate temperatures between 31 °C to 32 °C predominantly favored male embryos [39]. This data suggests, that TSD consequently is naturally occurring and not just inducible by constant incubation temperatures provided by artificial experimental conditions.

3.3. Thermosensitive period

Gender determination in crocodilians does not occur at the time of fertilization but is set during a specific time of incubation, and is an irreversible state with no possibility of sex reversal [32, 37]. Such interval is referred to as the thermosensitive period (TSP) [32, 34, 41]. It is defined as that timeframe during embryonic development where gonadal differentiation begins and where variations in incubation temperature strike an effect on the sex ratio [11, 31, 41, 44].

The timing of the TSP is determined via the induction of constant incubation temperatures at a one-sex producing temperature and switching to the opposite-sex-producing temperature after a certain amount of time. Single-shift temperature switches are permanent changes and eggs will be incubated at the second temperature until hatching [4, 8, 11, 32, 41]. To exemplify, to set the TSP in *Alligator mississippiensis*, eggs incubated at 30 °C, a female-producing temperature, are transitioned to a male-producing temperature, 34 °C, for the rest of the artificial incubation [32] (Figure 3). This procedure can be applied vice versa as well. For the results to be representative, eggs are separated into groups and switched to the different temperatures at alternating timestamps during their development [8, 32]. Besides the single-switches, "shift-twice" experiments are a common alternative [23, 31]. In other words, eggs are initially switched to the opposite-sex-inducing temperature and then eventually transitioned back to the starting point, to induce a reversed sex [23, 31].



Figure 3: Diagram of the effect of single-switch experiments from 33 °C to 31 °C during the TSP in *Alligator mississippiensis* eggs. Switches at different embryonic stages lead to different male proportions within the clutch. The later the switch occurs, the higher the proportion of males. The arrows demonstrate the timestamps during embryonic stages where switches from 33 °C to 31 °C were initiated.

Source: Lang and Andrews (1994)

Such experiments coupled with pulsating temperatures in the background of a sex-producing temperature have given contradictory results [31, 36, 41]. In Deeming and Ferguson (1989) the effects of pulses initiated for 7 days on the background were neglected as minor and not effective enough to ultimately alter the sex ratios in *Alligator mississippiensis*. Despite that, the follow-up study on TSP in *Alligator mississippiensis* carried out by Lang and Andrews (1994) concluded, that for the pulses to have a lasting effect on sex reversal, a cumulative effect of temperature and a significant magnitude were needed. Moreover, it was figured that the magnitude stands in correlation with the percentage of males produced during the TSP. For instance, a shift to 33 °C on day 15 and ultimately a shift back to 31 °C, consequently had a male proportion of 55% of embryos in *Alligator mississippiensis*. On the contrary, shifts from 31 °C to 34 °C (with a final shift back to 31 °C) produced 100% males on the same day [4, 31]. Nonetheless, shifting experiments cannot always contribute accurate results, as incubation periods and threshold temperatures between species vary. Namely, in *Alligator mississippiensis* temperatures at 33 °C can produce a 100% male ratio, and low

temperatures almost exclusively females [31, 32]. By contrast, crocodile species such as *Crocodylus palustris, Crocodylus porosus,* and the freshwater crocodile, *Crocodylus johnstoni,* do not show temperatures in their TSD pattern that elicit a ratio that only engenders males, suggesting a limitation within the determination of TSP in crocodiles [31]. Results therefore are hard to be considered as conclusive, as high temperatures may induce females and males [31, 41]. Note, that according to Lang and Andrews (1994) across crocodiles and alligators the temperature sensitive periods still present as quite similar, which subsequently was proven in further studies on species like *Crocodylus palustris, Crocodylus porosus, and Crocodylus. johnstoni, Crocodylus porosus, and Crocodylus. niloticus.* [31, 39, 42].

Reptilian embryos are commonly staged based on their morphology. Ferguson (1985) concluded a staging system applicable to crocodilians, categorizing the embryonic development into stages 1 to 28. Each stage has characteristic morphological changes. Based on that information, the determination of TSP in its coherence to gonadal differentiation can be applied [31, 45]. For both, Alligator mississippiensis and the spectacled caiman, Caiman crocodilus, TSP was defined for the embryonic stages of 21 to 24, between days 30 and 45 during the middle third of embryonic development [31]. This stands opposed to the results presented by Joanen (1982) and Ferguson (1983) who determined the TSP in the American Alligator to be rather earlier, between days 20 to 35 days of incubation. A common finding, however, is that TSP in crocodilians has a rough span of approximately 15 days [31, 32, 36, 37]. Altering results between the two studies might be subject to different temperatures used in the switching experiments and additionally altering time frames. Temperature shifts prior to or later than the defined period are deemed to be ineffective regarding sex ratios. Mostly affected by temperature shifts are sex ratios between stages 21 and 23 [8, 31, 32]. However, alterations in the beginning of the TSP appear to have the biggest effect on either inducing maleness or femaleness [4, 8, 31, 41]. Incubation periods have varying lengths, notably controlled by the incubation temperature. Higher temperatures cause the length of incubation to decline, while lower temperatures extend the period [23, 31, 38, 39]. Accordingly, the average incubation period of crocodilians varies between 70 to 80 days [32, 42].

Generally, it has been established that TSP in crocodilians has its effect during the first 18% to 30% of embryonic development. In contrast, in turtles, it is usually limited to the middle third [8, 11, 18, 19, 31, 41]. Some opposing results occurred in *Crocodylus porosus* where it seems to be within the first half of development [39].

3.4. Gonadal differentiation

As mentioned above, TSP is the timeframe in embryonic development where the undifferentiated, bipotential gonads take a certain pathway into becoming either testes or ovaries, approximately between stages 21 to 24 [31, 46]. Unlike in species expressing SD through GSD, the sex will ultimately be set during that time and not the point of fertilization [10, 47]. Post TSP the sex of the embryo is not possible to be reversed [31, 36]. The differentiation of gonads arises initially from the coelomic epithelium, or surface epithelium, which provides the basis for the "genital ridges", by thickening of the epithelium [10, 11, 46] (Figure 4). Moreover, it forms the epithelial compartment within the gonad, holding the epithelial and primordial germ cells (PGC). Those PGCs are primarily observable in the germinal epithelium and represent undifferentiated stem cells which can further develop into either oocytes or spermatozoa after traveling to the genital ridges [10, 48]. While the genital ridges undergo development, epithelial cells from various structures proliferate. The coelomic- and germinal epithelium give rise to such epithelial cells, which align to form the inner part of the gonad – the medulla. Epithelial cells arising from the coelomic epithelium further take part in the formation of the anlagen for the rete cords. These cords are a primary connection between the embryonic mesonephros and the developing gonad [11]. Another key component in gonadal differentiation are the sex cords, or medullary cords [11, 36, 46]. These are formed by the proliferation of cells from the germinal epithelium and commonly occur during the early stages of TSP. The presence of sex cords is indifferent to the gender of the embryo [11].

When it comes to the effect of temperature on the primordial gonads, there appears to be a slight difference in female- or male-producing temperatures. While in lower female-producing temperatures, and high as in the case of *Alligator mississippiensis*, the medullary cords appear to be thinner and less infiltrated by cells, the higher, male-initiating temperatures cause the cords to become thicker [11, 36]. It is, however, not entirely possible at this state to determine whether the embryo will ultimately become male or female. One of the few indicators of a certain sex might be the pre-Sertoli cells, which were demonstrated mainly in *Alligator mississippiensis*. A higher amount seems to be a pre-condition for testes to develop [11, 31]. Whether a gonad develops into an ovary or testes can initially be established by the state of the germinal epithelium. In the case of a male pathway, the epithelial compartment will show a flattened morphology and furthermore, germ cells will

regress. In contrast, ovarian differentiation is highlighted by a thickened epithelium and proliferation of not only epithelial but also germ cells. Additionally, the formation of an ovarian cortex is highly characteristic, with a distinct separation from the medulla by a basement membrane [11, 46]. Towards the end of TSP, most of the cells in a differentiated ovary will enter meiosis, while cells in determined testes differentiate distinctly as Sertoli cells by stage 23 [11, 31].



Figure 4: Comparative and schematic drawing of the development of the bipotential gonad before and during the TSP. During the undifferentiated state, the gonad is comprised of the coelomic- and germinal epithelium, and additionally the anlagen for the rete cord. Within the germinal epithelium, germ cells are present. These structures form the genital ridge, which is a predisposing component for testis or ovary differentiation. With the onset of the TSP, the cells within the rete cord start organizing. Germ cells will further proliferate, and the formation of medullary cords takes place.

BC: Bowman capsule; RCA: Rete cord anlagen; CE: Coelomic epithelium; GE: Germinal epithelium; PGC: Primordial germ cells; MC: Medullary cords

Source: Pieau (2001)

3.5. Mechanisms of temperature-dependent sex determination

TSD is a very complex system that is composed of many factors, eventually leading to the differentiation of an undifferentiated gonad into either testes or ovaries. While in GSD there are obvious components that we can pinpoint to SD, in TSD these remain elusive. The difficulty lies in finding a factor within the embryo that is sensitive to outer temperatures and reacts differently to either high or low climatic conditions. Stimulation of such factor would then eventually lead to a male- or female outcome, by either suppressing or activating a certain cascade of molecular events.

3.5.1. Steroid hormones and aromatase

3.5.1.1 Steroid hormones

Popular hypotheses regarding the molecular mechanism behind TSD include the involvement of steroid hormones, more specifically estradiol (E₂), and testosterone (T). Even though numerous evidence has been gathered in research that confirm that steroid hormones are involved in gonadal differentiation, their specific role has not entirely been put into perspective yet [49, 50]. As an initial theory, Janzen and Paukstis (1991) proposed that their association might lie in the ratio of E₂ to T, ultimately deciding the fate of the gonad to become either an ovary or testis. In light of that, application of exogenous steroids, such as estrogen (E) and T, was effective in altering the ovarian differentiation at female-producing temperatures or overriding the male-producing temperatures in the Alligator mississippiensis [51-53] and Crocodylus porosus [4, 54, 55]. Similar results were observed in turtles in experiments carried out by Wibbels (1991). The red-eared slider turtle, Trachemys scripta, expresses a TSD1a pattern, meaning that male embryos are produced at low temperatures, and females at high [56]. Injection of Estradiol 17 β (E-17 β) at 28 °C causes the embryo to develop into a female, even though incubation temperatures are typical inducing testis differentiation [56]. In correlation, by applying E-17 β at temperatures that commonly produce a higher female ratio, less amount of the steroid hormone was needed to induce female differentiation. This goes to show, that also in turtles there is a correlation between E_2 and the incubation temperatures [56].

In addition to the results of Wibbels (1991), steroid hormone experiments carried out on the common snapping turtle, *Chelydra serpentina*, demonstrated, that injections of E_2 and E agonists at their male-promoting temperatures initiated the differentiation of gonads into

ovaries. Interestingly enough, application of T and Dihydrotestosterone (DHT), a nonaromatizable steroid [11], at female incubation temperatures gave mixed and inconclusive results, in comparison to the E_2 injection at male-promoting temperatures. Masculinization through injection of DHT is therefore questionable [18, 52, 57]. Injection of E antagonists, such as Tamoxifen, gave contradicting results by occasionally acting as an E agonist. Such effects were observed in alligator embryos, where paradoxically the agent did not interfere with the ovarian development. When looking at turtles, treatment of *Emys orbicularis* with Tamoxifen at male-producing temperatures posed an agonistic effect and caused the development of ovotestes. Application of E_2 and Tamoxifen at the same time promoted the same outcome. In this instance, however, the agent acted as an antagonist. At female-producing temperatures, Tamoxifen was contrarily responsible for initiating sex reversal and the regression of the ovarian cortex [40, 58, 59]. Those findings in crocodilians and turtles implicate the significant role steroids play in the determination of the female pathway during the sensitive period of TSD.

Endogenously, steroids are provided by the egg yolk during embryonic development. In *Alligator mississippiensis*, E_2 , T, and Androstenedione (A), which can be converted to either E or T, are present even before the TSP begins, with A having the highest concentration. Higher concentrations of A in the beginning of the TSP are coherent with its conversion later on during the gonadal differentiation. Between the stages 21 to 23 the overall number of steroids declines, independently from the incubation temperature [50, 60].

3.5.1.2 Aromatase

The ratio of sex steroids is associated with the activity of the CYP450 enzyme Aromatase (AT) which is encoded by the CYP19 gene. The primary role of AT is the conversion of T to E_2 and A to estrone (E_1) [11] (Figure 5). It is assumed that activity and/or synthesis of AT is correlated with the incubation temperature during the TSP. As a simple way of explaining the role of AT in SD: If the ratio of estrogenic to androgenic steroids is high, it determines the fate of the female pathway and vice versa [4, 46, 61, 62]. Injections of AT-inhibitors (AI), e.g., Fadrozole, in eggs of *Emys orbicularis* achieved the inhibition of ovarian development at female-producing temperatures. Furthermore, successful masculinization, characterized by a thickened germinal epithelium rich in Sertoli cells [47], was demonstrated in *Crocodylus porosus* and *Alligator mississippiensis* by using the AI 4-Hydroxyandrostenedione (4-OHA), by markedly reducing the activity of AT [52, 55].



Figure 5: Demonstration of the conversion of steroid hormones through the action of AT. T is converted to E_2 and A to E_1 .

Concentrations of AT are commonly measured within the Gonado-Adrenal-Mesonephros (GAM) complex and in brain tissues of reptilians [63]. *Alligator mississippiensis* embryos at stages in the beginning and during TSP only show a low activity of AT in their gonads, independently of the incubation temperature. Significant increases are primarily recognizable towards the very end of the TSP, and most typically at stage 24, post-TSP [58, 63, 64]. Similar results are observed in *Crocodylus porosus*, where AT reaches its peak concentration at stage 23 when the TSP has come to an end [54]. Regarding brain tissues, during the TSP concentration of AT is higher compared to that in the undifferentiated gonad, however, there is no notable difference between male- and female-producing temperatures. Based on that data, it is doubtful whether AT activity in the brain is a pivotal factor in the mechanism of TSD [63–65].

Gonadal concentrations of AT during the TSP indicate that the enzyme might not ultimately be the determining factor for a male- or female pathway. AT increases only after TSP at female-promoting temperatures in *Alligator mississippiensis* [63, 64]. Opposite patterns have been identified in turtles. In *Emys orbicularis*, AT also had a low concentration at the beginning of their TSP, regardless of the temperature. However, in female-producing temperatures AT increased till the end of TSP. Like in crocodilians, the peak of AT is detectable after the TSP, but it is interesting to see that there seem to be different exhibiting patterns regarding the enzyme activity [66].

Taking all of this into account, it is questionable whether AT is the direct regulating factor of TSD. The scheme of AT activity during TSP proposes that temperature doesn't affect the activity of the enzyme, but rather the synthesis by acting on higher levels within the SD cascade [58]. A more logical conclusion is that increasing levels of AT are not a reason for gonadal differentiation, but rather a consequence of [58]. However, the upstream event leading to the increase is subject to discussion still. Joanen (1988) proposed in their study on TSP that for sex to be determined there should be a male-determining factor that reacts sensitively to the external temperature and consequentially initiates a cascade that will lead to either the activation or inhibition of the male-inducing-factor, resulting in female development. Since all crocodilians express the TSD2 pattern, the factor should therefore be active in intermediate temperatures and pose an inhibitory effect during high and low climatic conditions [64]. The fact that in crocodilians AT is present during embryonic development, but only rises after gonads have developed into ovaries seems to support that hypothesis [58, 64].

AT is inhibited by the anti müllerian hormone (AMH), or anti müllerian inhibiting substance, which is exclusively produced by Sertoli and Leydig cells in the testis. The primary function of AMH is the regression of the Müllerian ducts, an essential part of the masculinization during gonadal development. Without the effect of AMH, the ducts develop into necessary parts of the female genital tract [13, 59, 67–69]. Aligning with the pattern presented in AT, AMH peaks in its concentration after TSP and seems to be indetectable at stages of a bipotential gonad. First detectable values occur from stage 22 onwards [69, 70]. Considering that no AMH is detectable while the gonad is still in its undifferentiated bipotential state before TSP, it is undeniable that it is specific to the male sex-differentiation process in the gonads. Nonetheless, regardless of the effects exhibited by the hormone, it is possibly not the initiating factor for male determination. Western et al. (1999) examined the correlation of testis differentiation to the activity of AMH, with special regard to the gonadal development in Alligator mississippiensis embryos. They detected that, even though AMH was active during the early stages of TSP, gonadal tissue arrangement towards a male pathway was initiated earlier, during stage 21. It is therefore possible to assume, just as with AT, that AMH itself is not in the front seat of male determination but is rather the consequence of a previously occurring event. Additionally, Western et al. (1999) failed to detect AMH at female-promoting temperatures, neither at high nor low. This suggests that the occurrence of AMH is fully limited to a testis-determining gonad and entirely relies on the presence of premature- and mature Sertoli cells. Concerning the timing and concentrations of AMH there is a strong suggestion that it in fact can override the effect of AT in the gonad, which is not only limited to reptilians. Similar results were obtained in ovine embryos injected with bovine AMH. The activity of AT in the gonad was fully inhibited [71]. Apart from AMH, a possible regulatory origin on AT lies in genes involved in SD, which either suppress or activate the responsible gene of the enzyme [11].

3.5.1. Genes involved in temperature-dependent sex determination

AT and steroid hormones play a significant role, as previous experiments have shown. However, they can't be accounted for the pivotal factors that determine whether a gonad develops into a testis or an ovary. AT only reaches peak concentrations after the TSP has ended, meaning the gonad has already committed to the female pathway. This indicates that upstream events must be responsible and thermosensitive. Therefore, regulatory genes might be in the background and therefore contribute to the determination of sex in crocodilians [64]. In mammals, several genes are involved in the process of SD. The most important factors include SRY, the steroidogenic factor- 1 (SF-1), and Sry related HMG box gene 9 (SOX9). Through cloning and isolation, it has been established that in embryonic alligators, several analogs to those mammalian SD genes can be found. SRY, or as determined in mice as Sry, is the testes determining factor in the mammalian genome, which is located on the Y-chromosome, but no homolog was found in crocodilians [1, 11, 13].

3.5.1.1. SOX9

In mammalian vertebrates, SRY is considered to be the driving and crucial determining gene for male SD [1, 12, 13, 72]. Crocodilians, however, do not seem to express any homolog to SRY [11, 69]. Instead of SRY, another member within the family, more specifically belonging to the HMG box gene, was successfully isolated and cloned in reptiles, including crocodiles and alligators. SOX9 is widespread between mammals and other species of vertebrates and has primary functions in the male-sex determining pathway. Furthermore, in adult animals, SOX9 is quite important regarding the maintenance of normal reproductive function [73]. Due to its highly conserved nature, the organization of alligator SOX9 and that of *Crocodylus palustris* shows very similar patterns to SOX9 of birds and humans, and therefore comparable purposes can be demonstrated [69, 72, 74].

In mammalian vertebrates, SOX9 is upregulated by SRY and further influenced by SF-1, a testis-differentiation specific gene. Further down the SD cascade, the box gene acts as an upstream regulator of AMH, by positively affecting the expression through Sertoli cells in the gonad. SF-1 and SOX9 can be viewed as co-workers in the upregulation of AMH [11, 68, 75, 76]. Male sex determination and testis differentiation are highly dependent on Sertoli cells which usually are present first in an immature state and then further differentiate into mature and full functioning Sertoli cells [11, 31, 69]. Just like AMH, SOX9 expression is

Sertoli cell specific, and was detectable in immature pre-Sertoli cells and the differentiated mature ones. The specific location of expression travels from the cytoplasm into the nucleus of the cells [68, 73, 75].

Despite the gene being highly conserved, it is noticeable that the timing of expression is not similar between mammals and non-mammalian vertebrates. Gonads of mice, for instance, produce a detectable amount of Sox9 shortly before gonadal differentiation. With further organization into testicular structures, the expression increases significantly and is absolutely limited to differentiated Sertoli cells. In neither of the species is any evidence given that suggests, that Sox9 is also expressed in gonads that are committed to the female pathway, confirming once more the male-specificness of the gene [70, 75]. *Trachemys scripta* shows similar patterns regarding the SOX9 expression. It is upregulated when incubated at male-producing temperatures, reaches its peak when differentiated Sertoli cells organize into testicular structures, and moreover initiates the expression of AMH towards the end of the TSP [70].

According to the presented results, SOX9 is an upregulating factor of AMH and due to the conserved nature of the gene, it is logical to assume that SOX9 behaves similarly in crocodilians [77]. In the light of this hypothesis, Western and Graves (1999) mapped the activity of SOX9 and AMH through the timeframe of the TSP, from stage 21 through stage 24, in embryos of Alligator mississippiensis, both at male- and female-producing temperatures [11, 31, 35, 69]. Strikingly, opposite results were observed, compared to mice or Trachemys scripta. Right before the onset of TSP, the gonad is undifferentiated and has the potential to commit to either the male- or female differentiation pathway. At those stages of embryonic development, mice and chicken gonads already expressed basal amounts of SOX9. No such observation was made in Alligator mississippiensis [75, 77]. Instead, it became apparent, that AMH was primarily expressed by pre-Sertoli cells at stage 22, as opposed to SOX9, which was first detectable at stage 23. Neither of them was identifiable at high- or low female-producing temperatures. Both genes peaked in their expression, at stages right after the TSP came to an end and were primarily observed in fully differentiated Sertoli cells which were finely organized into testis cords [77]. SOX9 being a testis-specific factor is further highlighted by the application of exogenous E₂ into eggs incubated at malepromoting temperatures. In response to the steroid hormone injection, SOX9 and AMH are significantly downregulated, while ovarian stimulants like AT are noticeably increased [78].

Overall, SOX9 in *Alligator mississippiensis* does not seem to have any upregulating function on AMH, therefore doesn't passively initiate the regression of Müllerian ducts and consequently is possibly not the crucial factor in male determination. If anything, SOX9 might be viewed as a differentiating factor, but not a determining one, in regards to TSD [69, 74, 77].

3.5.1.2. SF-1

Despite the evident involvement of AMH and SOX9 in the male- determining- and AT in the female-determining pathway, it is unlikely for them to be the crucial thermosensitive factors regarding SD. Each of those components seems to be mainly responsible for sex differentiation and must consequently be regulated from a higher level. Apart from SOX9 and AMH, there is one more major regulatory gene, which is also involved in the mammalian SD process. SF-1 belongs to the family of orphan nuclear receptors and is connected to the embryogenesis of mammals and non-mammalian vertebrates. It is present in the genital ridge of mammalian embryos and expresses a sexually dimorphic pattern, meaning it is present in both male and female gonads [11, 79, 80].

Primary function of SF-1 within SD can be viewed from the male-determining or the femaledetermining pathway, as activity is detectable in ovaries and testes. Generally, SF-1 is produced in supporting cell lineages, but their expression is mainly detectable in Leydig cells of the differentiating testis [68]. The role of the gene is primarily limited to the direct regulation of proteins included in steroidogenesis and the upregulation of AMH along with SOX9, by acting on the Sertoli cells [11, 79–82].

In what way exactly SF-1 belongs to the SD mechanism in crocodilians, was demonstrated by Western and Graves (2000). Although the author focused primarily on the role of SF-1 in the gonadogenesis in embryos of *Alligator mississippiensis*, there is a strong indication to assume that expression and function of SF-1 in crocodiles would deliver similar results, as the gene has been strongly maintained and conserved amongst vertebrates. Adding to that, cloning of SF-1 homologues in *Alligator mississippiensis* revealed a strong similarity towards the human orthologue [82]. During the early stages of embryonic development, where the gonad is yet to differentiate, SF-1 shows a clear sexual dimorphism and is detectable around stage 20, with the onset of TSP in *Alligator mississippiensis* being set to stage 21. At both female- and male promoting temperatures SF-1 is active in the gonad, all throughout stage 27 post gonadal-differentiation. The detectable mRNA in ovary and testis during the TSP implies that SF-1 is not an exclusively male or female differentiating factor and thus most likely is involved in feminizing and masculinizing processes [82].

There are multiple ways on how to connect SF-1 to ovarian- or testicular differentiation. First, SF-1 is noticeably downregulated in the embryonic gonad at male-producing temperatures during the temperature-sensitive, critical period of the *Alligator mississippiensis*. It is not until after the gonad has committed to a fully organized testis, that SF-1 is significantly upshifted within the testicular structures. Moreover, the low concentration of SF-1 in the beginning stages of gonadal differentiation are quite similar to the expressional pattern of SOX9, as described in chapter 3.5.1.1. Both, SOX9 and SF-1, are thought to have regulatory functions on AMH, as it was demonstrated in mice [70, 75]. The preceding upregulation of AMH prior to SOX9 and SF-1 in *Alligator mississippiensis*, does raise the question on the regulatory relationship between the genes, but it is possible that low amounts of SF-1 might be sufficient enough to significantly upregulate AMH [68, 82]. Additionally, SF-1 positively influences the synthesis of androgens, which are essential in the male-differentiating pathway [79–81].

Even though SF-1 is sexually dimorphic in alligators and mammals, there are quite a few deviations concerning the expressional patterns through embryogenesis. Male-producing temperatures in *Alligator mississippiensis* did not provide a constant basal level of SF-1 in the differentiating gonad, instead, the levels continuously fluctuated. In contrast, in putative ovaries, the mRNA was expressed constantly and in a higher amount as opposed to testes [82]. In mammalian vertebrates, however, this pattern is typically expressed vice versa, and SF-1 is strongly associated with testis differentiation. Compared with ovaries in alligators, the activity in mammals notably decreases once the differentiation process is more or less complete [79].

As of now, there is no clear explanation as to why regulatory patterns of homolog genes differ from one species to another. In *Trachemys scripta*, SF-1 behaves likewise to the characteristic pattern described in human and mouse gonadal differentiation. mRNA is increasingly detectable at male-determining temperatures and downregulated at femaleproducing temperatures. Shift experiments further demonstrated the increasing activity of SF-1 when switching eggs from female- to male incubation temperatures [80, 81, 83]. Nevertheless, none of these results provided the conclusion, that SF-1 is a one-sex-related factor and is solely involved in the determination of either the testis or ovary [11, 80]. Even if male- or female-expression levels are higher, this does not deny the presence of mRNA in the opposite gonad.

AT, as one of the major ovary-determining factors, is also upregulated by SF-1, due to the promoting effect on steroidogenesis. Despite that, exogenous applications of AI consequently produced high levels of SF-1 and successfully hatched 100% males [83].

3.5.2. TRVP4

TSD in crocodilians is a cumulative, complex system and a concrete determination of a factor remains elusive. Possible factors involved range from steroid hormones to genetic components. Sure enough, they are all part of the cascade, but the triggering candidate is still yet to be determined (Figure 6).

The newest approaches in research turned to the transient receptor potential (TRP) family. This group of ion channels has become of significant interest in TSD mechanisms due to their sensitivity to heat stimuli and the elicited Calcium (Ca²⁺) increase in the body [84, 85]. Several channels belong to this group; however, temperature reactivity has only been observed in a few. Five of those, called transient receptor potential vanilloid type (TRPV) channels, were identified in the *Alligator mississippiensis* by Yatsu et al. (2015). Out of TRPV2, TRPV4, TRPM3, TRPA1, and TRPM8, the second listed channel proved to have the most temperature sensitivity in the American alligator and additionally in *Crocodylus moreletti* [73, 84]. While in the female gonad, TRPV4 is commonly expressed within the testicular cords are responsible for the synthesis [73]. Since TRPV4 is argued as a possible thermosensitive triggering factor in TSD it is of interest to determine how exactly it behaves during embryonic development and if major differences are occurring between male- and female-differentiating gonads.

Concerning the male-determining pathway, TRPV4 has a suspected up-regulatory function on SOX9 in crocodilians. Evidence, based on TRPV4 antagonist injections into *Alligator mississippiensis* embryos at stage 19, suggests that downregulation of the ion channel negatively affects the expression of SOX9 and AMH – Both genes majorly involved in testicular differentiation. Application of agonists into a bipotential gonad did not result in significant alterations, only a mild elevation of the SOX9 gene. This suggests, again, that there is a direct connection between the heat-sensitive ion channel and genes involved in the testis differentiation, but also indicates that female differentiation is affected minorly to none [73, 84].

Upon thermal stimuli TRP channels commonly cause an increased intracellular influx of Ca^{2+} [85]. This specific reaction might be in interesting relation to a factor named Signal Transducer and Activator of Transcription 3, short STAT3 [86]. Yet to be studied in crocodilians, but already examined in turtles, STAT3 acts as an inhibiting factor for an epigenetic regulator called Kdm6B, which is considered to be in connection with maledetermination. STAT3 itself is activated by phosphorylation at warmer, female-incubating temperatures through the influx of Ca²⁺ [86, 87]. Kdm6B, a histone demethylase, actively promotes testicular differentiation in Trachemys scripta by binding to a promotor region on the Doublesex and Mab3-related Transcription Factor 1 (Dmrt1) downstream of the cascade [86]. One as well as the other are significant in the male pathway and the deficit of either of them leads to a notably high decrease in AMH and SOX9. While Dmrt1 is a thermosensitive factor, it still needs to be upregulated by factors higher up in the process. On the contrary, there is no detectable sensitivity of Kdm6B towards outer temperature and switches to either male- or female-producing climate [86]. The inhibiting function of STAT3 on Kdm6B was properly demonstrated in laboratory experiments in Trachemys scripta. Application of STAT3 inhibitors successfully leads to a high expression of Dmrt1 and Kdm6B, even at female-producing temperatures.

The correlation between the Ca²⁺ influx and a consequential upregulation of a sexdetermining factor raises the attention to TRPV4, which indeed causes an intracellular increase of the mineral in response to higher temperatures [73, 84, 86]. Such an involvement would indicate that TRPV4 is also somewhat included in a female-determining pathway, as higher calcium means more upregulation of STAT3. Overall, the final role of TRPV4 in TSD is subject to speculation and cannot entirely be defined. While it is true that maledetermining genes are directly affected by the absence or presence of TRPV4, there is no substantial evidence for the channel to be actively involved in the process of the gonad committing to an ovary [73, 84].



Figure 6: Schematic figure summarizing the involvement of steroid hormones, enzymes, and genes in the TSD mechanisms.

(+): low increase; (++): moderate increase; (+++): high increase; (-): decreased activity; ***** : Inhibitory action; AT (Aromatase); T (Testosterone); A (Androstenedione); E2 (Estradiol); E1 (Estrogen); Ca2+ (Calcium); AMH (Anti müllerian hormone); STAT3 (Signal Transducer and Activator of Transcription 3); Kdm6B; Dmrt1 (Doublesex and Mab3-related Transcription Factor 1); SF-1 (Steroidogenic Factor 1); SOX9 (SRY box like gene 9); Question mark: represents the unidentified thermosensitive factor within the TSD cascade.

3.5. Selective advantage of TSD

It is still a topic of discussion whether the presence of a TSD mechanism is of a higher evolutionary advantage for reptiles, as opposed to the occurrence of GSD. The Charnov-Bull model, first described in 1977, suggests that reproductive fitness in the same environmental conditions is differently expressed in males vs. females and further highlights the significance of ESD evolution [35, 88]. Bull and Charnov (1977) proposed that natural selection processes should benefit the hatchling for its most advantageous outcome. These advantages can be related to weight, length, and most importantly in maximizing reproductive fitness in relation to its gender. To give a more precise understanding of the Charnov-Bull Model, here is an illustrative example: Imagine a piece of land, with many different vegetative characteristics. On the far left of that land you find a big river with surrounding pastures, extensively exposed to broad sunlight. On the contrary, the right side is mainly foresting territory, offering shadow and cool spaces and lots of predator animals. These differences in the flora and fauna turn our fictional one piece of land into a lot of little islands – Islands that can favor either the reproduction of female individuals or that of males. Hence, the environmental conditions occurring in those little spots will favor the best outcome for the hatchling – Something which in GSD would not be a possibility, as it is not driven by the influence of the embryos surrounding [14, 15, 36]. Despite the difficulty of finding confounding evidence for the model, it poses the most realistic and applicable explanation as to why TSD has prevailed over GSD in certain species [8, 10, 89].

There are two ways to categorize the effects of incubation temperature on the embryo. On the one hand, it directly influences the outcome of the gender, and on the other hand, it affects the hatchling in various non-sexual ways. *Crocodylus niloticus* embryos that were incubated at warmer temperatures, at 34 °C, usually had a smaller body size compared to those incubated in cold and intermediate temperatures [38]. Hutton's (1987) study was confirmed through similar observations made by Deeming and Ferguson (1989) on *Alligator mississippiensis* hatchlings. Offspring incubated at intermediate temperatures had the largest body size after hatching. As intermediate temperatures in crocodilians produce predominantly male progeny, the larger body size poses the biggest selective advantage for that gender. Larger-sized male crocodilians are usually at an advantage when it comes to territory fights against predators or achieving better reproductive fitness [23, 36]. The increasing temperature stands in correlation with the accelerating growth rate of the embryos

during incubation and post-hatching development [36, 39]. However, if the temperatures border an extreme limit, the growth and survival chances decline significantly [32, 36]. Such observations in post-hatching effects by temperature act in favor of the proposed model by Bull and Charnov (1977) [6, 89].

Despite size being an important factor regarding selective significance, body weight is less subject to effect. One outstanding factor regarding body weight includes the egg yolk which forms throughout embryonic development. Significant amounts are detectable after the end of the TSP, at stage 25, where the yolk surrounds the embryo remarkably. Absorption of the yolk is a noteworthy factor in the development of the hatchling. It is predominantly absorbed into the abdominal cavity between stages 26 to 28, whereas stage 28 marks the time of hatching. How much of the yolk is absorbed and how it affects the hatchling is highly dependent on temperature [45]. Colder temperatures, which determine female sex (see Chapter 3.3.), typically produce heavier embryos, as they absorb more egg yolk. Less yolk is absorbed at higher temperatures. Additionally, growth rate might be positively correlated to the amount absorbed, as well as reaching sexual maturity [36, 37, 39]. Thus, a higher body weight due to a larger absorption of yolk is an advantageous precondition for female individuals to grow faster and improve their reproductive fitness. A higher number of sexually mature females, compared to that of males, creates an essential benefit in maintaining and expanding a population [32]. For TSD to be of evolutionary and selective significance, there need to be positive long-term effects on individual hatchlings and the population. Species with a longer lifespan, such as crocodilians, can balance their sex ratios over a long period of time, by means of TSD. Consequently, they are able to survive changes in their environmental conditions, even if alterations can be drastic disasters, such as climate warming. Individuals with short lifespans will benefit more from a genetic-driven SD system, as they can't adapt to changes over an extended period of time [4, 6, 8].

Concluding results on the significance of TSD and the correlation between the two major SD mechanisms are still missing and no definite answer can yet be elicited to either of the questions. The Charnov-Bull Model (1977) provides the most substantial explanation as to why TSD has been established in the reptilian order and how it favors individuals that lack heteromorphic sex chromosomes.

4. The role of climate change

The earliest traces of crocodilian existence by the analysis of fossils can be traced back to the late-cretaceous period, around 95 million years ago [24, 27]. With the catastrophic cretaceous-tertiary event (K-T event), a major cleft was left in the ecosystem across the globe, leaving animal species the choice to either adapt, or to inevitably face extinction. Despite the closely associated relationship between crocodilians and dinosaurs, both belonging to the archosaurs, it is curious that only one of the two managed to prevail into modern centuries. Additionally, the phylogenic similarities leave one to wonder, whether dinosaurs also used TSD and were, however, not capable of adjusting their adaptiveness to a new world, post-K-T event [21, 22, 24].

One way or another, history proved that crocodilians could adapt their population to significant changes in their environment. With global warming and climate change becoming a more significant issue at our present times, there is no denial in the fact that species using TSD are at a high risk of facing extinction. According to the World Meteorological Organization, global surface climate will be around 1.1 °C to 1.8 °C higher when compared to the detected temperatures in the 1900s [90]. This is without taking the effect of human-produced greenhouse gases into consideration. Natural catastrophes caused by climate change are detrimental to our ecosystem. Flooding and bushfires cause unthinkable damage to the vegetation and natural habitats of animal species. Rising sea levels additionally force land species to expand to alternative geographical locations.

Taking all of this into consideration, how is SD a crucial factor in the face of climate change? Species that determine their sex via chromosomes are at no risk of their sex ratios within a population being altered by environmental stimuli, such as increasing temperature. The sex of the offspring is set at fertilization and cannot be reversed or overridden [24, 25]. TSD species, on the other hand, depend on the outer temperature during egg incubation. Any changes to PT or TRT of even 1 °C, could drastically change the sex ratio of the population. A tendency towards warmer climates usually results in a ratio that is biased towards more females, or possibly also an overproduction of males, if temperature shifts fall within the male-producing temperatures. Such predictions were made for the population of *Alligator mississippiensis*.
Bock et al. (2020) forecast a temperature increase in nests within the geographical contribution, along the East Coast of America, around 1.1 °C to 1.4 °C by 2050. Mean temperatures currently range between 32 °C, favoring the production of male offspring. As the American alligator is known to use the TSD2 pattern, increases of such temperatures would not drastically change the principle of progeny. Males would still be produced, as they commonly still hatch at 100% around 33 °C [31, 32, 35]. However, due to the occurrence of less low-temperature females, the male:female ratio is expected to bias significantly towards males, leaning around 90% [91]. The lack of females within the population could pose a significant problem, as a high number of reproductive cycles of the few remaining female individuals would be needed to restore a balanced sex ratio [24, 25, 91].

Considering that global warming is not a stagnant process, and under the precondition that the alligator population would be able to overcome such initial skew in ratios, climatic conditions and the effects on the population will become even more drastic. A further prognostic by Bock et al. (2020) states, that by 2100 nests temperature will be 4.6 °C higher compared to nowadays. With this being true, males at intermediate temperatures would only seldom be produced and the sex ratio of *Alligator mississippiensis* would shift drastically, from 90% males to not more than 2% [91, 92].

In what way it is realistic that crocodilians are at the edge of extinction, however, is hard to forecast. As of right now, 8 crocodilian species are regarded as critically endangered, as listed on the red list by the International Union for Conservation of Nature (IUCN). Further, climate change and the consequential relocation to different areas are listed as an explicit reason by the IUCN for the categorization to critically endangered, apart from hunting and invasion of wildlife by humans. Although their SD mechanism lacks certain variety, due to the absence of sex chromosomes, knowing that crocodilians already survived a global catastrophe once, there is hope and confidence in assuming that they could do it again, even with using TSD as a SD mechanism [8, 24, 25, 91].

A possible way for them to adapt to the change our globe is facing is by the simple tool of geographical migration. Just like the Bull and Charnov (1977) model suggested, the primary evolutionary advantage of TSD lies in the ability of animals to choose which patches in our environment are most favorable for their outcome. If natural habitats are destroyed by

bushfires or floods, those original suitable patches might not be available anymore, hence crocodilians need to find new areas to live in. Such relocation and migration have been documented by fossil records over crocodilian history, showing that they are able to adapt to changing circumstances [24, 93]. At the moment, several natural habitats by crocodilians are affected and critically put at risk. *Alligator mississippiensis* has its primary geographical contribution located from Northern America down the East Coast and is a common inhabitant of the Everglades in Florida [91, 94]. A suspected increase in temperature of around 2 °C to 2.5 °C could significantly alter the flora and fauna of the wetland of the Everglades. Droughts would leave the American alligator with fewer available nesting sites and reduced food availability, resulting in decreased reproductive function [94].

The other side of the medal includes the danger of rising sea levels. Fukuda et al. (2022) examined the effect of rising water levels in *Crocodylus porosus* along the northern coast of Australia. The crocodile species mainly reside in freshwaters, like rivers and lakes, thus a mix in water quality due to seawater invasion into freshwater habitats could result in a reduction of possible living areas [95]. The authors conclude that sea levels in that particular area are possibly going to rise around 1.90m by 2100, resulting in ca. 60% less available natural territory for *Crocodylus porosus*.

All in all, climate change is a real and menacing risk for the crocodilian species around the world. Still, due to their resilient nature and the new knowledge about TSD which was gathered over the last years of research, there is a good chance of being able to preserve those large reptiles. Crocodilians might not have a possibly genotypic SD in their background, which could take overriding action if TSD fails, but PT and TRT work in the reptiles' favor, by still producing many males at high temperatures and ultimately females at even higher temperatures. Additionally, the long life span and the possibility of having many reproductive cycles in order to reinstate a balanced sex ratio, is a high advantage and should not be underestimated [8, 24, 25].

5. Conclusion

SD mechanisms in our ecosystem have proven to be very different and are utilized quite variously among the animals on our globe. By analyzing the results that were gained over the past couple of years, it becomes apparent that crocodilians represent a special clade of reptiles. Their offspring's gender is determined by the temperature during their incubation time. Females are commonly produced at high and low temperatures, while males predominantly hatch when temperatures fall into intermediate levels. Variations between species exist, but generally, the patterns apply to all members of the crocodilians. Researchers have proven that the gender of eggs is not only determined by temperature in artificial incubation experiments but that it is also a common event in nature. Clutches therefore have different sex ratios, all depending on the location of the egg within the nest and the environmental temperature.

Even though TSD has been in the focus of research ever since Charnier (1966) discovered the odd mechanism in a lizard, no clear explanations have yet been given on how exactly temperature poses its effect during embryonic development. Multiple hypotheses have been proposed, with surely all of them being crucial components in the differentiation of the gonad during the TSP. Steroid hormones such as E_2 and T are in direct correlation with gender, as their expressional patterns align with either a female or a male hatchling. Further, AT, an enzyme that knowingly converts T into E_2 , shows higher activity levels in putative ovaries. Adding to that, the application of AI causes the interruption of ovarian differentiation. Genes involved in mammalian SD were also isolated and determined in crocodilians and turtles. Their expression varies slightly between the species, but their role in TSD during the TSP is undeniable. However, what is missing is the pivotal thermosensitive factor that ultimately elicits a response in the bipotential gonad that will either cause the male- or femaledetermination pathway to be induced. That is, none of the proposed factors, neither steroid hormones nor genes, are solely responsible for the determination of the gonad into the testis or ovary, indicating that they must be upregulated from a higher level.

The significance of TSD is highlighted by its post-hatching effects on the hatchlings. Females with higher body weight, due to yolk absorption at lower temperatures, benefit from reaching their reproductive fitness quicker than males, hence having many reproductive cycles to balance the population. Males on the other hand draw their benefit from a large body size, by being in an advantage to predators in their territory.

Altogether, there lies significant importance in understanding how TSD operates among species. Being able to determine the TSP and the critical temperature ranges is essential in the possible preservation of endangered species, that are faced with the danger of climate change. Even though such drastic effects seem to be far away, there is a realistic chance for animal species to be critically affected by rising sea levels and continuously increasing global temperatures. Further research in the field of TSD is consequently indispensable, especially since the major thermosensitive factor in the SD mechanisms remains elusive.

References

1. Weber C, Capel B (2021) Sex determination without sex chromosomes. Philos Trans R Soc B Biol Sci 376:20200109. https://doi.org/10.1098/rstb.2020.0109

2. Mittwoch U (2005) Sex determination in mythology and history. Arq Bras Endocrinol Metabol 49:7–13. https://doi.org/10.1590/S0004-27302005000100003

3. Stévant I, Papaioannou MD, Nef S (2018) A brief history of sex determination. Mol Cell Endocrinol 468:3–10. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.mce.2018.04.004

4. Janzen FJ, Paukstis GL (1991) Environmental Sex Determination in Reptiles: Ecology, Evolution, and Experimental Design. Q Rev Biol 66:149–179. https://doi.org/10.1086/417143

5. Deeming DC, Ferguson MWJ, Mittwoch U, Wolf U, Dorizzi M, Zaborski P, Sharma H, McLaren ALD, Ferguson-Smith MA (1997) Environmental regulation of sex determination in reptiles. Philos Trans R Soc Lond B Biol Sci 322:19–39. https://doi.org/10.1098/rstb.1988.0111

6. Janzen FJ (1995) Experimental Evidence For The Evolutionary Significance Of Temperature-Dependent Sex Determination. Evol Int J Org Evol 49:864–873. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1558-5646.1995.tb02322.x

7. Johnston CM, Barnett M, Sharpe PT, Graves J a. M, Renfree MB, Capel B, Mireille D, Ferguson-Smith MA, Lovell-Badge RH, McLaren A (1997) The molecular biology of temperature-dependent sex determination. Philos Trans R Soc Lond B Biol Sci 350:297–304. https://doi.org/10.1098/rstb.1995.0165

8. Bull JJ (1980) Sex Determination in Reptiles. Q Rev Biol 55:3–21

9. Beatty RA (1970) Genetic basis for the determination of sex. Philos Trans R Soc Lond B Biol Sci 259:3–13. https://doi.org/10.1098/rstb.1970.0041

10. Kohno S, Parrott BB, Yatsu R, Miyagawa S, Moore BC, Iguchi T, Guillette L (2014) Gonadal differentiation in reptiles exhibiting environmental sex determination. Sex Dev Genet Mol Biol Evol Endocrinol Embryol Pathol Sex Determ Differ 8:208–226. https://doi.org/10.1159/000358892

11. Pieau C, Dorizzi M, Richard-Mercier N (2001) Temperature-dependent sex determination and gonadal differentiation in reptiles. EXS 117–141. https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-0348-7781-7_7

12. Fechner PY (1996) The role of SRY in mammalian sex determination. Acta Paediatr Jpn Overseas Ed 38:380–389. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1442-200x.1996.tb03512.x

13. Quinn A, Koopman P (2012) The molecular genetics of sex determination and sex reversal in mammals. Semin Reprod Med 30:351–363. https://doi.org/10.1055/s-0032-1324718

14. Coriat AM, Valleley E, Ferguson MW, Sharpe PT (1994) Chromosomal and temperature-dependent sex determination: the search for a conserved mechanism. J Exp Zool 270:112–116. https://doi.org/10.1002/jez.1402700112

15. Korpelainen H (1990) Sex Ratios and Conditions Required for Environmental Sex Determination in Animals. Biol Rev 65:147–184. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1469-185X.1990.tb01187.x

16. Charnier M (1966) Action of temperature on the sex ratio in the Agama agama (Agamidae, Lacertilia) embryo. C R Seances Soc Biol Fil 160:620–622

17. Mezzasalma M, Guarino FM, Odierna G (2021) Lizards as Model Organisms of Sex Chromosome Evolution: What We Really Know from a Systematic Distribution of Available Data? Genes 12:1341. https://doi.org/10.3390/genes12091341

18. Wibbels T, Bull JJ, Crews D (1994) Temperature-dependent sex determination: A mechanistic approach. J Exp Zool 270:71–78. https://doi.org/10.1002/jez.1402700108

19. Pieau C (1996) Temperature variation and sex determination in reptiles. BioEssays 18:19–26. https://doi.org/10.1002/bies.950180107

20. Lance VA (2009) Is regulation of aromatase expression in reptiles the key to understanding temperature-dependent sex determination? J Exp Zool Part Ecol Genet Physiol 311A:314–322. https://doi.org/10.1002/jez.465

21. Benton MJ 8. Archosaur phylogeny and the relationships of the Crocodylia

22. Lance V (2021) Reproductive biology of the crocodylia, 1st ed. Elsevier, Waltham

23. Valenzuela N, Lance V (2004) Temperature-dependent sex determination in vertebrates. Smithsonian Books, Washington, D.C

24. Miller D, Summers J, Silber S (2004) Environmental versus genetic sex determination: a possible factor in dinosaur extinction? Fertil Steril 81:954–964. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.fertnstert.2003.09.051

25. Mitchell NJ, Janzen FJ (2010) Temperature-dependent sex determination and contemporary climate change. Sex Dev Genet Mol Biol Evol Endocrinol Embryol Pathol Sex Determ Differ 4:129–140. https://doi.org/10.1159/000282494

26. The Reptile Database. http://www.reptile-database.org/. Accessed 8 Aug 2023

27. Brochu C (2003) Phylogenetic Approaches Toward Crocodylian History. Annu Rev Earth Planet Sci - Annu Rev Earth Planet Sci 31:357–397. https://doi.org/10.1146/annurev.earth.31.100901.141308

28. Srikulnath K, Thapana W, Muangmai N (2015) Role of Chromosome Changes in Crocodylus Evolution and Diversity. Genomics Inform 13:102–111. https://doi.org/10.5808/GI.2015.13.4.102 29. Cohen MM, Gans C (2008) The chromosomes of the order Crocodilia. Cytogenetics 9:81–105. https://doi.org/10.1159/000130080

30. Oliveira VCS, Altmanová M, Viana PF, Ezaz T, Bertollo LAC, Ráb P, Liehr T, Al-Rikabi A, Feldberg E, Hatanaka T, Scholz S, Meurer A, de Bello Cioffi M (2021) Revisiting the Karyotypes of Alligators and Caimans (Crocodylia, Alligatoridae) after a Half-Century Delay: Bridging the Gap in the Chromosomal Evolution of Reptiles. Cells 10:1397. https://doi.org/10.3390/cells10061397

31. Lang JW, Andrews HV (1994) Temperature-dependent sex determination in crocodilians. J Exp Zool 270:28–44. https://doi.org/10.1002/jez.1402700105

32. Ferguson MWJ, Joanen T (1982) Temperature of egg incubation determines sex in Alligator mississippiensis. Nature 296:850–853. https://doi.org/10.1038/296850a0

33. González EJ, Martínez-López M, Morales-Garduza MA, García-Morales R, Charruau P, Gallardo-Cruz JA (2019) The sex-determination pattern in crocodilians: A systematic review of three decades of research. J Anim Ecol 88:1417–1427. https://doi.org/10.1111/1365-2656.13037

34. Deeming DC, Ferguson MW (1988) Environmental regulation of sex determination in reptiles. Philos Trans R Soc Lond B Biol Sci 322:19–39. https://doi.org/10.1098/rstb.1988.0111

35. Ewert MA, Jackson DR, Nelson CE (1994) Patterns of temperature-dependent sex determination in turtles. J Exp Zool 270:3–15. https://doi.org/10.1002/jez.1402700103

36. Deeming DC, Ferguson MWJ (1989) Effects of incubation temperature on growth and development of embryos of Alligator mississippiensis. J Comp Physiol B 159:183–193. https://doi.org/10.1007/BF00691739

37. Ferguson MWJ, Joanen T (1983) Temperature-dependent sex determination in Alligator mississippiensis. J Zool 200:143–177. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1469-7998.1983.tb05781.x

38. Hutton JM (1987) Incubation temperatures, sex ratios and sex determination in a population of Nile crocodiles (Crocodylus niloticus). J Zool 211:143–155. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1469-7998.1987.tb07458.x

39. Webb GJW, Cooper-Preston H (1989) Effects of Incubation Temperature on Crocodiles and the Evolution of Reptilian Oviparity1. Am Zool 29:953–971. https://doi.org/10.1093/icb/29.3.953

40. Dorizzi M, Mignot T-M, Guichard A, Desvages G, Pieau C (1991) Involvement of oestrogens in sexual differentiation of gonads as a function of temperature in turtles. Differentiation 47:9–17. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1432-0436.1991.tb00216.x

41. Mrosovsky N, Pieau C (1991) Transitional range of temperature, pivotal temperatures and thermosensitive stages for sex determination in reptiles. Amphib-Reptil 12:169–179. https://doi.org/10.1163/156853891X00149

42. Webb GJW, Manolis SC, Buckworth R (1983) Crocodylus johnstoni in the McKinlay River Area N. T, VI.* Nesting Biology. Wildl Res 10:607–637. https://doi.org/10.1071/wr9830607

43. Escobedo-Galván AH, López-Luna MA, Cupul-Magaña FG (2016) Thermal fluctuation within nests and predicted sex ratio of Morelet's Crocodile. J Therm Biol 58:23–28. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jtherbio.2016.03.006

44. Bull JJ (1987) Temperature-sensitive periods of sex determination in a lizard: Similarities with turtles and crocodilians. J Exp Zool 241:143–148. https://doi.org/10.1002/jez.1402410118

45. Ferguson M (1985) Reproductive biology and embryology of the crocodilians. IN: Gans, Billett and Maderson, Biology of the Reptilia

46. Merchant-Larios H, Díaz-Hernández V (2012) Environmental Sex Determination Mechanisms in Reptiles. Sex Dev 7:95–103. https://doi.org/10.1159/000341936

47. Pieau C, Dorizzi M (2004) Oestrogens and temperature-dependent sex determination in reptiles: all is in the gonads. J Endocrinol 181:367–377. https://doi.org/10.1677/joe.0.1810367

48. Nikolic A, Volarevic V, Armstrong L, Lako M, Stojkovic M (2016) Primordial Germ Cells: Current Knowledge and Perspectives. Stem Cells Int 2016:1741072. https://doi.org/10.1155/2016/1741072

49. Kohno S, Bernhard MC, Katsu Y, Zhu J, Bryan TA, Doheny BM, Iguchi T, Guillette LJ (2015) Estrogen receptor 1 (ESR1; ER α), not ESR2 (ER β), modulates estrogen-induced sex reversal in the American alligator, a species with temperature-dependent sex determination. Endocrinology 156:1887–1899. https://doi.org/10.1210/en.2014-1852

50. Conley AJ, Elf P, Corbin CJ, Dubowsky S, Fivizzani A, Lang JW (1997) Yolk Steroids Decline during Sexual Differentiation in the Alligator. Gen Comp Endocrinol 107:191–200. https://doi.org/10.1006/gcen.1997.6913

51. Bull JJ, Gutzke WHN, Crews D (1988) Sex reversal by estradiol in three reptilian orders. Gen Comp Endocrinol 70:425–428. https://doi.org/10.1016/0016-6480(88)90117-7

52. Lance VA, Bogart MH (1992) Disruption of ovarian development in alligator embryos treated with an aromatase inhibitor. Gen Comp Endocrinol 86:59–71. https://doi.org/10.1016/0016-6480(92)90126-5

53. Kohno S, Vang D, Ang E, Brunell AM, Lowers RH, Schoenfuss HL (2020) Estrogen-induced ovarian development is time-limited during the temperature-dependent sex determination of the American alligator. Gen Comp Endocrinol 291:113397. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ygcen.2020.113397

54. Smith CA, Joss JMP (1994) Uptake of 3H-estradiol by embryonic crocodile gonads during the period of sexual differentiation. J Exp Zool 270:219–224.

https://doi.org/10.1002/jez.1402700211

55. Smith CA, Joss JMP (1994) Steroidogenic Enzyme Activity and Ovarian Differentiation in the Saltwater Crocodile, Crocodylus porosus. Gen Comp Endocrinol 93:232–245. https://doi.org/10.1006/gcen.1994.1027

56. Wibbels T, Bull JJ, Crews D (1991) Synergism between temperature and estradiol: A common pathway in turtle sex determination? J Exp Zool 260:130–134. https://doi.org/10.1002/jez.1402600117

57. Crews D, Wibbels T, Gutzke WHN (1989) Action of sex steroid hormones on temperature-induced sex determination in the snapping turtle (Chelydra serpentina). Gen Comp Endocrinol 76:159–166. https://doi.org/10.1016/0016-6480(89)90042-7

58. Smith CA, Elf PK, Lang JW, Joss JMP (1995) Aromatase enzyme activity during gonadal sex differentiation in alligator embryos. Differentiation 58:281–290. https://doi.org/10.1046/j.1432-0436.1995.5840281.x

59. Pieau C, Girondot M, Richard-Mercier N, Desvages G, Dorizzi M, Zaborski P (1994) Temperature sensitivity of sexual differentiation of gonads in the European pond turtle: Hormonal involvement. J Exp Zool 270:86–94. https://doi.org/10.1002/jez.1402700110

60. Lance VA, Bogart MH (1994) Studies on sex determination in the American alligator alligator mississippiensis. J Exp Zool 270:79–85. https://doi.org/10.1002/jez.1402700109

61. Simpson ER, Clyne C, Rubin G, Boon WC, Robertson K, Britt K, Speed C, Jones M (2002) Aromatase--a brief overview. Annu Rev Physiol 64:93–127. https://doi.org/10.1146/annurev.physiol.64.081601.142703

62. Hong Y, Li H, Yuan Y-C, Chen S (2009) Molecular Characterization of Aromatase. Ann N Y Acad Sci 1155:112–120. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1749-6632.2009.03703.x

63. Milnes MR, Roberts RN, Guillette LJ (2002) Effects of incubation temperature and estrogen exposure on aromatase activity in the brain and gonads of embryonic alligators. Environ Health Perspect 110 Suppl 3:393–396. https://doi.org/10.1289/ehp.02110s3393

64. Gabriel WN, Blumberg B, Sutton S, Place AR, Lance VA (2001) Alligator aromatase cDNA sequence and its expression in embryos at male and female incubation temperatures. J Exp Zool 290:439–448. https://doi.org/10.1002/jez.1087

65. Callard GV, Petro Z, Ryan KJ (1977) Identification of Aromatase in the Reptilian Brain1,2. Endocrinology 100:1214–1218. https://doi.org/10.1210/endo-100-4-1214

66. Desvages G, Pieau C (1992) Aromatase activity in gonads of turtle embryos as a function of the incubation temperature of eggs. J Steroid Biochem Mol Biol 41:851–853. https://doi.org/10.1016/0960-0760(92)90437-N

67. Josso N, Racine C, di Clemente N, Rodolfo Rey, Xavier F (1998) The role of anti-

Müllerian hormone in gonadal development. Mol Cell Endocrinol 145:3–7. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0303-7207(98)00186-5

68. de Santa Barbara P, Moniot B, Poulat F, Berta P (2000) Expression and subcellular localization of SF-1, SOX9, WT1, and AMH proteins during early human testicular development. Dev Dyn Off Publ Am Assoc Anat 217:293–298. https://doi.org/10.1002/(SICI)1097-0177(200003)217:3<293::AID-DVDY7>3.0.CO;2-P

69. Western PS, Harry JL, Graves JAM, Sinclair AH (1999) Temperature-dependent sex determination in the american alligator: AMH precedes SOX9 expression. Dev Dyn 216:411–419. https://doi.org/10.1002/(SICI)1097-0177(199912)216:4/5<411::AID-DVDY9>3.0.CO;2-Y

70. Shoemaker C, Ramsey M, Queen J, Crews D (2007) Expression of Sox9, Mis, and Dmrt1 in the gonad of a species with temperature-dependent sex determination. Dev Dyn 236:1055–1063. https://doi.org/10.1002/dvdy.21096

71. Vigier B, Forest MG, Eychenne B, Bézard J, Garrigou O, Robel P, Josso N (1989) Anti-Müllerian hormone produces endocrine sex reversal of fetal ovaries. Proc Natl Acad Sci 86:3684–3688. https://doi.org/10.1073/pnas.86.10.3684

72. Agrawal R, Wessely O, Anand A, Singh L, Aggarwal RK (2009) Male-specific expression of Sox9 during gonad development of crocodile and mouse is mediated by alternative splicing of its proline-glutamine-alanine rich domain. FEBS J 276:4184–4196. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1742-4658.2009.07127.x

73. Martínez-Juárez A, López-Luna MA, Porras-Gómez TJ, Moreno-Mendoza N (2018) Expression of the Sox9, Foxl2, Vasa, and TRPV4 genes in the ovaries and testes of the Morelet's crocodile, Crocodylus moreletii. J Exp Zoolog B Mol Dev Evol 330:148– 164. https://doi.org/10.1002/jez.b.22799

74. Vining B, Ming Z, Bagheri-Fam S, Harley V (2021) Diverse Regulation but Conserved Function: SOX9 in Vertebrate Sex Determination. Genes 12:486. https://doi.org/10.3390/genes12040486

75. Kent J, Wheatley SC, Andrews JE, Sinclair AH, Koopman P (1996) A malespecific role for SOX9 in vertebrate sex determination. Development 122:2813–2822. https://doi.org/10.1242/dev.122.9.2813

76. Harley VR, Clarkson MJ, Argentaro A (2003) The Molecular Action and Regulation of the Testis-Determining Factors, SRY (Sex-Determining Region on the Y Chromosome) and SOX9 [SRY-Related High-Mobility Group (HMG) Box 9]. Endocr Rev 24:466–487. https://doi.org/10.1210/er.2002-0025

77. Western PS, Harry JL, Graves JA, Sinclair AH (1999) Temperature-dependent sex determination: upregulation of SOX9 expression after commitment to male development. Dev Dyn Off Publ Am Assoc Anat 214:171–177. https://doi.org/10.1002/(SICI)1097-0177(199903)214:3<171::AID-AJA1>3.0.CO;2-S

78. Urushitani H, Katsu Y, Miyagawa S, Kohno S, Ohta Y, Guillette LJ, Iguchi T

(2011) Molecular cloning of anti-Müllerian hormone from the American alligator, Alligator mississippiensis. Mol Cell Endocrinol 333:190–199. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.mce.2010.12.025

79. Na H, Y I, X L, Kl P (2000) Steroidogenic factor 1 (SF-1) is essential for ovarian development and function. Mol Cell Endocrinol 163:. https://doi.org/10.1016/s0303-7207(99)00237-3

80. Ikeda Y (1996) SF-1: A key regulator of development and function in the mammalian reproductive system. Pediatr Int 38:412–419. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1442-200X.1996.tb03516.x

81. Fleming A, Wibbels T, Skipper JK, Crews D (1999) Developmental Expression of Steroidogenic Factor 1 in a Turtle with Temperature-Dependent Sex Determination. Gen Comp Endocrinol 116:336–346. https://doi.org/10.1006/gcen.1999.7360

82. Western PS, Harry JL, Marshall Graves JA, Sinclair AH (2000) Temperaturedependent sex determination in the American alligator: expression of SF1, WT1 and DAX1 during gonadogenesis. Gene 241:223–232. https://doi.org/10.1016/s0378-1119(99)00466-7

83. Fleming A, Crews D (2001) Estradiol and Incubation Temperature Modulate Regulation of Steroidogenic Factor 1 in the Developing Gonad of the Red-Eared Slider Turtle*. Endocrinology 142:1403–1411. https://doi.org/10.1210/endo.142.4.8043

84. Yatsu R, Miyagawa S, Kohno S, Saito S, Lowers RH, Ogino Y, Fukuta N, Katsu Y, Ohta Y, Tominaga M, Guillette Jr LJ, Iguchi T (2015) TRPV4 associates environmental temperature and sex determination in the American alligator. Sci Rep 5:18581. https://doi.org/10.1038/srep18581

85. Güler AD, Lee H, Iida T, Shimizu I, Tominaga M, Caterina M (2002) Heat-Evoked Activation of the Ion Channel, TRPV4. J Neurosci 22:6408–6414. https://doi.org/10.1523/JNEUROSCI.22-15-06408.2002

86. Ge C, Ye J, Weber C, Sun W, Zhang H, Zhou Y, Cai C, Qian G, Capel B (2018) The histone demethylase KDM6B regulates temperature-dependent sex determination in a turtle species. Science 360:645–648. https://doi.org/10.1126/science.aap8328

87. Ge C, Ye J, Zhang H, Zhang Y, Sun W, Sang Y, Capel B, Qian G (2017) Dmrt1 induces the male pathway in a turtle species with temperature-dependent sex determination. Development 144:2222–2233. https://doi.org/10.1242/dev.152033

88. Warner DA, Shine R (2005) The adaptive significance of temperature-dependent sex determination: experimental tests with a short-lived lizard. Evol Int J Org Evol 59:2209–2221

89. Charnov EL, Bull J (1977) When is sex environmentally determined? Nature 266:828–830. https://doi.org/10.1038/266828a0

90. Global temperatures set to reach new records in next five years | World

Meteorological Organization. https://public.wmo.int/en/media/press-release/global-temperatures-set-reach-new-records-next-five-years#. Accessed 9 Sep 2023

91. Bock SL, Lowers RH, Rainwater TR, Stolen E, Drake JM, Wilkinson PM, Weiss S, Back B, Guillette L, Parrott BB (2020) Spatial and temporal variation in nest temperatures forecasts sex ratio skews in a crocodilian with environmental sex determination. Proc R Soc B Biol Sci 287:20200210. https://doi.org/10.1098/rspb.2020.0210

92. Janzen FJ (1994) Climate change and temperature-dependent sex determination in reptiles. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 91:7487–7490. https://doi.org/10.1073/pnas.91.16.7487

93. Eversole C, Henke S (2018) The conservation history of the American alligator

94. Pearlstine LG, Pearlstine EV, Aumen NG (2010) A review of the ecological consequences and management implications of climate change for the Everglades. J North Am Benthol Soc 29:1510–1526. https://doi.org/10.1899/10-045.1

95. Fukuda Y, McDonald PJ, Crase B (2022) Lost to the Sea: Predicted Climate Change Threats to Saltwater Crocodile Nesting Habitat. Front Ecol Evol 10:

Figure bibliography

- 1. **Figure 1**: Pieau C (1996) Temperature variation and sex determination in reptiles. BioEssays 18:19–26.
 - Figure created by the author of this thesis, with inspiration by the source above
- Figure 2: González EJ, Martínez-López M, Morales-Garduza MA, García-Morales R, Charruau P, Gallardo-Cruz JA (2019) The sex-determination pattern in crocodilians: A systematic review of three decades of research. J Anim Ecol 88:1417–1427. <u>https://doi.org/10.1111/1365-2656.13037</u>
 - Figure created by the author of this thesis, created by data from the source above
- **3.** Figure 3: Lang JW, Andrews HV (1994) Temperature-dependent sex determination in crocodilians. J Exp Zool 270:28–44. https://doi.org/10.1002/jez.1402700105
 - Figure created by the author of this thesis, with inspiration from the source above
- Figure 4: Pieau C, Dorizzi M, Richard-Mercier N (2001) Temperature-dependent sex determination and gonadal differentiation in reptiles. EXS 117–141. <u>https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-0348-7781-7_7</u>
 - Figure created by the author of this thesis, inspired, and adapted by the source above
- 5. Figure 5: Figure created by the author of this thesis
- 6. Figure 6: Figure created by the author of this thesis

Acknowledgements

I want to foremost thank my supervisor, David Sandor Kiss PhD, for his supervision, guidance, and support throughout the writing process. Further, I'd like to express my gratitude to Dr. Tibor Bartha, who gave me the opportunity to write my thesis in the Physiology and Biochemistry department.

Additionally, my deepest appreciation goes out to my friends here at the university, for all the endless late study sessions, laughters, and support throughout these last 5,5 years.

Most especially, I am more than grateful to my family, who enabled me to study veterinary medicine in Budapest and therefore granted me the chance to become a veterinarian. None of this and what's to come would be possible without their continuous support, and for that I am eternally thankful.

secretary, student@univet.hu

founded in 1787, EU-accredited since 1995



Thesis progress report for veterinary students

Name of student: Josefine Knotz

Neptun code of the student: GR7AKB

Name and title of the supervisor: Dávid Sándor Kíss, PHD

Department: Physiology and Biochemistry

Thesis title: Temperature-dependent sex determination in crocodilians

Timing				Topic / Remarks of the supervisor	Signature of the supervisor
	year	month	day		
1.	2023	02	15	Overview of the semester assignments	hoz
2.	2023	02	20	Understanding the use of search engines	WD
3.	2023	03	8	Preparation of the first draft	WD
4.	2023	04	9	Understanding the management of citations	hr
5.	2023	06	30	End-of-year version of the thesis	her .

Consultation – 1st semester

Grade achieved at the end of the first semester:

Consultation – 2nd semester

	Tir	ning		Topic / Remarks of the supervisor	Signature of the supervisor
	year	month	day		~.Summe of the seperator
1.	2023	09	19	Thesis version written over summer	WOL
2.	2023	09	29	Edited version from consultation 1	lis
3.	2023	10	25	Edited version from consultation 2	102
4.	2023	10	31	Edited version from consultation 3	m

UNIVERSITY OF VETERINARY MEDICINE, BUDAPEST



secretary, student@univet.hu

founded in 1787, EU-accredited since 1995

5.	2023	11	13	Final version	hor
					000

Grade achieved at the end of the second semester:

The thesis meets the requirements of the Study and Examination Rules of the University and the Guide to Thesis Writing.

I accept the thesis and found suitable to defence,

.....

signature of the supervisor

Signature of the student: Joeffre Unit
Signature of the secretary of the department:
Date of handing the thesis in 2023. 11. 13.

I hereby confirm that I am familiar with the content of the thesis entitled "Temperaturedependent sex determination in crocodilians" written by Josefine Knotz which I deem suitable for submission and defence.

Date: Budapest, 13th of November 2023

Vou Dal San Dávid Sándor Kiss

Supervisor name and signature and Hipchemistry Department of